University of Central Florida STARS

Honors Undergraduate Theses

UCF Theses and Dissertations

2020

The Effects of Vaping on Oral Streptococci and Oral Inflammation

Matthew Caldwell University of Central Florida

Part of the Oral Biology and Oral Pathology Commons Find similar works at: https://stars.library.ucf.edu/honorstheses University of Central Florida Libraries http://library.ucf.edu

This Open Access is brought to you for free and open access by the UCF Theses and Dissertations at STARS. It has been accepted for inclusion in Honors Undergraduate Theses by an authorized administrator of STARS. For more information, please contact STARS@ucf.edu.

Recommended Citation

Caldwell, Matthew, "The Effects of Vaping on Oral Streptococci and Oral Inflammation" (2020). *Honors Undergraduate Theses*. 681. https://stars.library.ucf.edu/honorstheses/681

THE EFFECTS OF VAPING ON ORAL STREPTOCOCCI AND ORAL INFLAMMATION

by

MATTHEW CALDWELL

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Honors in the Major Program in Biomedical Sciences in the College of Medicine and in the Burnett Honors College at the University of Central Florida Orlando, Florida

Spring Term, 2020

Thesis Chair: Dr. Claudia Andl

ABSTRACT

E-cigarette (e-cig) use is rising, but much is unknown about the effects of its vapor. This vapor contains chemicals such as propylene glycol, a known antimicrobial, and nicotine, whose derivatives are carcinogenic. Here, we study the effects of vaping on resident bacteria of the oral cavity and on oral cell inflammation. Oral streptococci are major residents in the oral cavity, with S. mutans the primary cause of dental caries. Growth and biofilm formation have been shown to be enhanced upon exposure to traditional cigarette smoke *in vitro*. In this study, we analyzed the effects of e-cig vapor on growth and biofilm formation in S. mutans, S. sanguinis, and S. gordonii. Organisms and oral epithelial cells were treated using nicotine-free and 3mg nicotine vapor, as well as double-shot menthol freeze flavored 3mg nicotine vapor in a vape chamber designed to phenocopy physiologically relevant exposure. Nicotine-independent inhibition of growth occurred upon exposure in all three bacterial species. Interestingly, biofilm formation was enhanced in the S. mutans while decreased in S. sanguinis and S. gordonii. Epithelial cells showed activation of survival pathways by Western Blot upon exposure to only e-cigarette vapor as well as co-culturing of bacterial and oral epithelial cells. The pioneer colonizers S. gordonii and S. sanguinis generally antagonize the pathogen S. mutans, which can become a predominant member of the community under appropriate conditions, leading to dental caries formation. The observed decrease in the biofilm formation of the commensals S. sanguinis and S. gordonii upon e-cig vapor exposure indicates the opportunistic colonization of S. mutans, whose biofilm-forming abilities increased. Following e-cig usage, dental caries, and cancer, in the oral epithelium may result from this dysbiosis of the microbiome.

ACKOWLEDGEMENTS

Thank you Dr. Andl for this opportunity and the mentorship that you provided.

Thank you, Alma, Cheyanne, Gregoire, Cedric, Alex, and Josh for being fantastic mentors and peers, helping me establish myself in the lab.

Thank you Dr. Teter for mentorship and for introducing me to biomedical research through the Program for Undergraduate Research Experience.

Thank you Dr. Altomare for being a member of this committee and helping make this thesis possible.

Thank you Dr. Moore and his lab for providing the means of completing experiments and guidance while doing so.

And finally, thank you to my friends and family who have supported me.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

NTRODUCTION 1	L
ACKGROUND AND SIGNIFICANCE)
IATERIALS AND METHODS ϵ	5
Cell Culture	5
OKF6 Oral Epithelial Cells6	5
Streptococcus mutans and Streptococcus gordonii ϵ	5
Streptococcus sanguinis	5
Determining Bacterial Concentration in Snap	7
Co-Culturing OKF6 Epithelial Cells and Streptococcus mutans	7
Exposure to E-Cigarette Vapor	3
Puff Delivery and Duration	3
Bacterial Exposure to E-cigarette Vapor 8	3
Oral Epithelial Cell Exposure to E-cigarette Vapor9)
Co-Culture Exposure to E-cigarette Vapor)
Analysis)
Biofilm Analysis)
S. mutans and S. gordonii Growth Analysis)
S. sanguinis Growth Analysis)
Trypan Blue Assay11	
Western Blot	
ESULTS	<u>)</u>
Development of an Optimal Vape Chamber	<u>)</u>
Oral Streptococci Growth is Significantly Decreased Upon	ł
Exposure to E-cigarette Vapor	ł
Oral Pathogen <i>S. mutans</i> Biofilm Formation is Significantly Enhanced Following Exposure to E-cigarette Vapor, Not E-cigarette Liquid	5
Oral Commensals <i>S. sanguinis</i> and <i>S. gordonii</i> Experience Significantly Decreased Biofilm Formation Following Exposure to E-cigarette Vapor	3
A Multiplicity of Infection of 1 is Optimal for Co-Cultures Between <i>S. mutans</i> and OKF6 Oral Epithelial Cells)

Oral Epithelial Cells Experience a Stress Response 30 Minutes Following Exposure to E- cigarette Vapor
Oral Epithelial Cells Experience a Stress Response at 5 Hours Following Exposure to E- cigarette, However Co-Culturing Does Not Alter Stress Response
Oral Epithelial Cells Experience an Inflammatory Response 24 Hours Following Exposure to E-cigarette Vapor
DISCUSSION
REFERENCES

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1: The Vape Chamber
Figure 2: Growth of oral streptococci following exposure to e-cigarette vapor14
Figure 3: S. mutans biofilm formation following exposure to e-cigarette vapor and liquid16
Figure 4: <i>S. sanguinis</i> and <i>S. gordonii</i> biofilm formation following exposure to e-cigarette vapor
Figure 5: Oral epithelial cell trypan blue assay20
Figure 6: COX-2 Signaling Pathway21
Figure 7: Oral epithelial cell stress response 30 minutes after exposure to e-cigarette vapor
Figure 8: Oral epithelial cell stress response 5 hours after exposure to e-cigarette vapor and co- culturing
Figure 9: Oral epithelial cell inflammatory response 24 hours after exposure to e-cigarette vapor

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: Compounds Found Within E-cigarette Vapor	.2
Table 2: Proteins Probed For During Western Blotting	11

INTRODUCTION

In the span of a few years, the use of traditional cigarettes has fallen while the use of e-cigarettes continues to rise.¹ The e-cigarette market has an advantage in the fact that it is variable and evolving, with an increase in teen use being evident.^{1, 2} Smoking has been shown to cause cancer, as well as enhance bacterial growth in streptococci species in vitro, specifically Streptococcus *mutans* and *Streptococcus sanguinis*.³ Tar is not found in e-cigarette vapor, but nicotine is, with the amount varying (typically 3mg/mL to 12 mg/mL) between different vape juices. While nicotine itself is not a carcinogen, its nitrosamine products, N-nitrosonornicotine (NNN) and 4-(methylnitrosamino)-1-(3-pyridyl)-1-butanone (NNK), are. In addition to this, the propylene glycol present in vape juice, meant to act as a base for carrying flavor and nicotine, has antimicrobial properties. This leads one to question whether the oral microbiome is affected by the use of e-cigarettes. The most common cariogenic bacteria in the oral cavity streptococci and lactobacilli species.⁹ Changes in the composition and diversity of the oral microbiota contribute to disease etiology and progression through the allowance of organisms to spread outside their niche. Because cigarette smoke causes cancer and increases bacterial growth, one must ask if ecigarette use has a similar effect, and what implication it will have on the partaking youth.³

BACKGROUND AND SIGNIFICANCE

In 2018 alone, it is estimated that 51,140 people will be diagnosed with oral cancer, and 10,030 will die from it.¹² Cigarette use has been shown to be a risk factor for oral cancers, and while the amount of cigarette users is declining, a new trend is rising: e-cigarettes.^{2, 11} Originally introduced as a cessation tool to stop smoking, e-cigarette have become popular with youth, yet little is still known about the effects of e-cigarette usage, and what is known is disputed.⁴⁵ Some studies suggest that e-cigarette use is safe for oral cells, while other studies raise the possibility that consumption of the vapor induces a toxicological effect.^{13, 14} This same study that suggests the toxicological response also breaks down what is in vape juice commonly consumed by users. Besides the well-known substances that are present, such as propylene glycol (PG), vegetable glycerin (VG), and nicotine, many compounds were found in the flavoring.¹⁴ Another study that analyzed the flavoring chemicals in multiple vape juices found different chemicals from the previously mentioned study.¹⁵ (**Table 1**)



Table 1: Compounds Found Within E-cigarette Vapor

Adapted from Leigh, N.J. Flavorings significantly affect inhalation toxicity of aerosol generated from electronic nicotine delivery systems (ENDS) and Canistro, D. E-cigarettes induce toxicological effects that can raise the cancer risk

Tobacco users seeking help in quitting their usage of cigarettes have been turning to e-cigarettes as an alternative, without knowing exactly how these new products affect them. Studies have shown that PG and VG mixtures are relatively benign and have limited effects, but once combusted through an e-cigarette and nicotine is added, this changes.^{16, 17} As seen in **Table 1**, the chemicals found in flavoring can vary greatly, but PG, VG, and nicotine were constants throughout. These are the compounds that should be explored more thoroughly, as every e-cigarette user consumes PG and VG, and those who opt for nicotine in their mixture will consume it as well. Not knowing much about the short and long-term effects of e-cigarette use means that the future is uncertain for all the young users who have taken up the habit. The research that is being proposed will shed light on this and give a clearer idea of exactly how this generation of users will be impacted.

It is well known that an imbalance in the oral microbiome can cause disease both in the oral cavity, as well as elsewhere in the body. For instance, *Streptococcus pyogenes* causes strep throat but can also cause rheumatic fever, which can damage the heart, as well as other tissues. Cariogenic bacteria are bacteria that cause dental caries, or cavities, in the mouth. Dental caries created by these bacteria can lead to gingivitis, which is gum inflammation, and periodontitis, which is chronic gum inflammation and loss of gum tissue, bone, and teeth. Periodontitis is associated with an increased risk for oral cancer, meaning the presence of the disease is a risk factor.²⁴ Often, cariogenic bacteria have virulence factors: the ability to form biofilms, acid tolerance, synthesize water-insoluble glucan from sucrose, which aids in adherence, and acidogenicity, which is the ability to form acid.^{18, 19} Coincidentally, the most common sugar found within e-cigarette liquid is sucrose.³³ The most common cariogenic bacteria are

streptococci and lactobacilli, with *Streptococcus mutans* being the most prevalent of all. *Streptococcus mutans* is a Gram-positive cocci that is present in the oral cavity.⁹

While not currently being directly linked to oral cancers, the presence of dental caries and the bacteria that cause them are indicative of poor hygiene and lead to diseases that are associated with oral cancer.^{22, 24} Despite this, some studies suggest that these cariogenic bacteria are beneficial to the host, while other studies indicate that there is an association between the increased presence of these bacteria and oral cancers.^{4, 22} If bacterial growth is impacted in the presence of vapor, an associated change in the microbiome and subsequent disease may occur. This directly impacts the demographic of individuals who vape in another way besides just the oral epithelium. Our study aims to provide evidence regarding interactions between *Streptococcus mutans, Streptococcus sanguinis,* and *Streptococcus gordonii* and e-cig vapor individually.

While *S. mutans* is the primary culprit of dental caries, *S. sanguinis* is associated with positive oral health²⁵. *S. mutans* and *S. sanguinis* engage in constant warfare within dental plaques, with each secreting substances to inhibit the growth of the other. *S. sanguinis* secretes hydrogen peroxide to prevent the colonization of *S. mutans*, and *S. mutans* secretes mutacins I and IV to antagonize *S. sanguinis*.²⁶ Additionally, *S. gordonii* antagonizes *S. mutans* using H2O2 and antagonizes *S. sanguinis* through preventing early colonization.²⁷ Although H2O2 is a reactive oxygen species and harmful to most bacteria, including its creator *S. sanguinis*, *S. sanguinis* has Dps and TrxB to protect itself, while *S. gordonii* has SodA²⁸. *S. mutans* form of defense against H2O2 is Dpr, which production is increased when in the presence of *S. sanguinis* and *S. gordonii*, and allows it to survive colonization alongside them.²⁹

An imbalance between these organisms resulting from e-cigarette vapor could skew the makeup of dental plaques, allowing one organism to reign supreme. Previous studies have shown that whichever organism has the advantage of colonizing first will be able to outcompete the others *in vivo*.²⁶ *In vivo*, this could mean an increased risk of caries and dysbiosis if *S. mutans* outcompetes the others in biofilm formation and colonization. The oral microbiome is extraordinarily heterogeneous and composed of many species of bacteria, so any disruption to the balance may lead to oral and systemic disease within the body.⁴⁶

This study analyzes how oral streptococci growth and biofilm formation are altered upon exposure to e-cigarette vapor with and without nicotine, and with or without flavoring. Additionally, we examine how this same exposure affects oral epithelial cell stress and inflammatory pathways. Finally, oral epithelial cells and S. mutans were co-cultured together at a and exposed to the same treatment to determine the induction of stress and apoptotic pathways.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Cell Culture

OKF6 Oral Epithelial Cells

Keratinocyte Serum-Free Medium (KSFM) containing 1 ng.ml Epidermal Growth Factor (EGF), 0.05 mg/ml Bovine Pituitary Extract (BPE), and 1% penicillin streptomycin antibiotics (GibcoTM, for Life Technologies, Inc., Carlsbad, CA) were used to culture OKF6 human oral epithelial cells. Cells were incubated at 5.0% CO₂ at 37 degrees Celsius.

Streptococcus mutans and Streptococcus gordonii

Streptococcus mutans (ATCC® 25175TM) and *Streptococcus gordonii* (ATCC® 51656TM) were grown in the same culture conditions. Bacteria were grown overnight in 10 ml tryptic soy broth TSB at 37 degrees Celsius. It was then diluted and plated on Trypticase Soy Agar with 5% sheep blood (TSAII), BD 221261 and grown overnight. One optimal colony was then selected and grown overnight in 10 ml TSB at 37 degrees Celsius. The following day, this growth was resuspended and allocated into 1.5 ml tubes in amounts of 600 microliters, referred to as snaps. The tubes were then placed in liquid nitrogen for 24 hours, removed, and then stored at -80 degrees Celsius.

Streptococcus sanguinis

Streptococcus sanguinis (ATCC® 10556TM) was grown overnight in 10 ml TSB in 5.0% CO₂ at 37 degrees Celsius. It was then diluted and plated on Trypticase Soy Agar with 5% sheep blood (TSAII), BD 221261 and grown overnight. One optimal colony was then selected and grown

overnight in 10 ml TSB in 5.0% CO₂ at 37 degrees Celsius. The following day, this growth was resuspended and allocated into 600 microliters snaps. The tubes were then placed in (insert liquid nitrogen specs) for 24 hours, removed, and then stored at -80 degrees Celsius in (insert freezer specs).

Determining Bacterial Concentration in Snap

Bacteria were plated on Trypticase Soy Agar with 5% sheep blood (TSAII), BD 221261 plates after being diluted from 600 microliter stocks to 10⁻⁴, 10⁻⁵, and 10⁻⁶. Plates were then incubated for 24 hours in proper conditions for the organism and colonies on each plate were counted, multiplied by their dilution factor, and then averaged to determine bacterial concentration of the snap.

Co-Culturing OKF6 Epithelial Cells and Streptococcus mutans

700,000 OKF6 epithelial cells were plated in 6 well plates containing 2 mL of KSFM with EGF, BPE, and antibiotics. After growing overnight, they were washed twice with 1 ml PBS and placed in 1 ml KSFM without penicillin streptomycin antibiotics. Following this, *Streptococcus mutans* was then introduced at a multiplicity of infection (MOI) of 1, making a ratio of one OKF6 cell per bacterial cell. Co-cultures were then grown for five hours and proteins were harvested using IP Lysis buffer (150 mM NaCl, 50 mM Tris, pH 8.0, 1% Triton x-100, 1% NP-40) supplemented with cOmpleteTM EDTA-free protease Inhibitor Cocktail tablet.

Exposure to E-Cigarette Vapor

Puff Delivery and Duration

A vape chamber was created using a Intex Quick-Fill AC Electric Air Pump, tubing, Komax Biokips Extra Large Food Storage Container, and a SMOK® G-PRIV Baby e-cigarette. The ecigarette juice selected is a 70:30 mix of vegetable glycerin to propylene glycol as the base purchased from VAPORFI®. The nicotine free condition contains only the base. The 3mg nicotine condition contains 3mg/ml added to the base. The flavoring condition contains tripleshot Menthol Freeze with 3mg/ml nicotine or Frutti Tutti with 6mg/ml nicotine as specified in the figure.

Puffs lasted for 10 seconds, as measured by the vape's feature to monitor puff length, at a wattage of 60.3 watts, a resistance of 0.42 ohms, a voltage of 5.01 volts, and a current of 11.8 amps. For the air control conditions, only the pump was run for 10 seconds with no vapor. Following the 10 second puff, cells were incubated within the vape chamber for 5 minutes, and then returned to proper incubation conditions within an incubator.

Bacterial Exposure to E-cigarette Vapor

Bacteria were grown overnight in 10 mL of TSB in proper conditions for the organism. The following day, bacteria were diluted 1:10 in new TSB and 2ml of the dilution was placed into 100 mm plates for each condition. Plates were then exposed as specified in *Puff Delivery and Duration*. Following exposure, a 96 well plate was inoculated with 100 microliters of treated bacteria per well and incubated in proper conditions.

Oral Epithelial Cell Exposure to E-cigarette Vapor

Cells were counted and plated at a number of 500,000 cells per well in 100 mm plates and allowed to reach confluency overnight. Media was then removed, and cells were placed in 1 mL of KSFM and treated as specified in *Puff Delivery and Duration*. Cells were then washed with PBS and incubated for either 30 minutes or 24 hours.

Co-Culture Exposure to E-cigarette Vapor

Oral epithelial cells were plated at a number of 700,000 cells per well in a 6 well plate and allowed to reach confluency overnight. Media was removed and cells were washed with PBS and 2 mL of antibiotic free KSFM was added. *S. mutans* was then added at a MOI of 1 to wells requiring organism. Wells were then treated as specified in *Puff Delivery and Duration*, with wells not requiring treatment being wrapped in parafilm. Co-cultures were then incubated for 5 hours before protein was harvested.

Analysis

Biofilm Analysis

Following a 24 hour incubation after treatment, plates were taken out of the incubator, washed 3 times, and placed back in the incubator to dry for 20 minutes. After the plate was dried, 100 microliters of safranin were added to each well containing organism and allowed to stain the biofilm for 20 minutes. Plates were then washed 3 times and stored in the incubator for 20 minutes to dry. Finally, biofilms were resuspended in 100 microliters of an 80:20 ethanol:acetone mix and their absorbance measured at an OD of 490nm. Results were graphed and analyzed via Graphpad Prism using t-tests.

S. mutans and S. gordonii Growth Analysis

Immediately after treatment, 100 microliters of bacteria per well were plated in a 96 well plate and placed in a Biotek® Synergy Plate Reader. Readings were done every 5 minutes at 600 OD for 24 hours while incubated at 37° C. Data was graphed and analyzed via Graphpad Prism using multiple t-tests.

S. sanguinis Growth Analysis

Immediately after treatment, 100 microliters of bacteria per well were plated in a 96 well plate, covered in 50 microliters of mineral oil, and placed in a Biotek® Synergy Plate Reader. Readings were done every 5 minutes at 600 OD for 24 hours while incubated at 37° C. Data was graphed and analyzed via Graphpad Prism using multiple t-tests.

Trypan Blue Assay

200,000 OKF6 oral epithelial cells per well were plated in a 6 well plate and grown overnight. Cells were then washed with PBS and 1 mL of antibiotic free KSFM was added. An MOI of 1 or 5 of *S. mutans* was added to the wells, while a control well was kept. Cells were then incubated, with wells being harvested at the 3 hour, 5 hour, and 7 hour time points. To be harvested, cells were washed with PBS and 500 microliters of trypsin was added for 5 minutes. 1 mL of soybean trypsin inhibitor (STI) was then added to neutralize the trypsin, and cells were centrifuged for 5 minutes. STI was then removed and 100 microliters of PBS was added. Cells suspended in PBS were then mixed with trypan blue in a 1:1 ratio and counted, using 4 different fields that were then averaged together.

Western Blot

Proteins were analyzed via SDS PAGE followed by Western Blotting. Protein concentration was quantified utilizing a Pierce[™] BCA Protein Assay Kit (ThermoFisher Scientific, Waltham, MA), then separated using an acrylamide gel via SDS PAGE. Gels were then transferred to a PVDF membrane, and primary and secondary antibodies were used to visualize the membranes. The proteins analyzed are presented in **table 2**.

Proteins	Function Time Analyzed	
p-Erk 1/2	Stress Response	30 minutes/5 Hours
t-Erk 1/2	Stress Response	30 minutes/5 Hours
COX-2	Inflammation	24 hours
α-tubulin	Loading Control	Always

Table 2: Proteins	s Probed	For During	Western	Blotting
-------------------	----------	------------	---------	----------

RESULTS

Development of an Optimal Vape Chamber

Through vaping, e-cigarette liquid is heated to approximately 300 °C before inhalation, which may induce chemical transformations that could alter its toxicity. To deliver the e-cigarette vapor with and without nicotine and flavoring, we modified a vape chamber for the specific delivery of vapor to epithelial cells and bacteria, mimicking human inhalation of vaporized e-cig juice.

The initial vape chamber designed and generously donated by the Moore lab utilized Arduino software to trigger a coil to ignite and utilize capillary action to suck vape juice to be ignited. Two shortcomings of this design were the lack of airflow necessary to mimic inhalation and the possibility of burned metals from the coil being introduced into the vapor.

To improve on the existing design, an air pump was used to directly suck air through the vape and expel it into a chamber covered by an acrylic lid. However, in this iteration, clean air did not have a direct means of escape, resulting in air and vapor being blown out from the sides of the lid. This led an unspecified amount of air escaping. While functional, the design could still be improved.

The final version is the one that utilizes an Intex Quick-Fill AC Electric Air Pump, 110-120 Volt, Max. Air Flow 21.2CFM and a SMOK® G-PRIV Baby e-cigarette. Liquid is combusted at 60.3 watts, with a resistance of 0.42 ohms, a voltage of 5.01 volts, and a current of 11.8 amps. The chamber design allows air not containing vapor to leave through a pipe that may be closed once the duration of the puff has concluded. This prevents air escaping unnecessarily. Additionally, air no longer escapes from the sides of the lid, allowing the denser vapor to sit within the chamber. This iteration allows the air in the chamber to be recycled once per second that the air pump is running. In conclusion, this design allows the chamber to closely mimic physiological conditions. (Figure 1)



Figure 1: The Vape Chamber

Oral Streptococci Growth is Significantly Decreased Upon Exposure to E-cigarette Vapor

To determine the effects of e-cigarette vapor on the growth of select bacterial residents of the oral cavity, *S. mutans*, *S. gordonii*, and *S. sanguinis* were all treated individually with nicotine free, 3mg/ml nicotine, and flavored e-cigarette vapor, as specified in *Puff Delivery and Duration*. Bacteria were grown for 24 hours *in vitro* following exposure and had OD measured at 600nm for the duration of the growth, with only the first 12 hours shown in **figure 2**. Readings were performed every 5 minutes, with each condition for each organism containing four replicates





averaged together to provide the curves in **figure 2**. Only the first 12 hours are shown in **figure 2** due to the organism entering stationary phase for the rest of the growth study.

Following a multiple t-test comparing each condition including vapor to the control, the timepoint that a growth began to significantly differ from the control for the rest of the study was identified, indicating a change due to exposure to e-cigarette vapor. P-values steadily decreased for the duration of the growth, with the time elapsed shown in **figure 2** being the first 5 minute interval at which a p-value of less than 0.05 occurred.

All conditions in which *S. mutans*, *S. sanguinis*, and *S. gordonii* were exposed to any form of ecigarette vapor resulted in significantly decreased growth. E-cigarette vapor therefore has an inhibitory role in the growth of oral streptococci *in vitro*, but it cannot be concluded whether it is bacteriostatic or bacteriostatic here. *S. sanguinis*, unlike *S. mutans* and *S. gordonii*, requires 5% CO₂ to grow in healthy conditions as specified by the ATCC. This posed a unique challenge as the plate reader used for these growth studies did not support CO₂ injection. The solution was to cover *S. sanguinis* wells in mineral oil to simulate the necessary conditions and allow it to grow outside of the incubator.

Oral Pathogen S. mutans Biofilm Formation is Significantly Enhanced Following Exposure to Ecigarette Vapor, Not E-cigarette Liquid

Human oral bacteria interact with their environment by attaching to surfaces such as tooth enamel. As each bacterial cell attaches, it forms a new surface to which other cells can adhere ultimately forming a biofilm that retains the bacteria in the oral cavity through binding to the tooth allowing colonization. This is the preferred method of colonization for species such as *S. mutans*, who may undergo both sucrose-dependent and independent forms of attachment to initiate biofilm formation.

To determine the effects of e-cigarette vapor on the ability to form biofilms, *S. mutans* grown statically overnight then exposed to nicotine free, 3mg/ml nicotine, and menthol freeze e-cigarette vapors as specified in *Puff Delivery and Duration*. Additionally, *S. mutans* was exposed to nicotine free, 3mg/ml nicotine, and flavored e-cigarette liquid. Bacteria was then allowed to grow overnight. The following day, biofilms were stained with safranin and the OD was measured at 490 nm (**figure 3**).



Figure 3: *S. mutans* biofilm formation following exposure to ecigarette vapor and liquid. A: *S. mutans* biofilm formation is significantly enhanced in all conditions including e-cigarette vapor when compared to the control. B: There is no significant difference between the control and conditions including e-cigarette liquid when compared to the control. Exposure to e-cigarette vapor, regardless of the presence of nicotine or flavor, resulted in a statistically significant increase in biofilm formation (**figure 3A**). The effect was dependent on a chemical transformation induced by a high temperature combustion of the e-cigarette liquid components into vapor. This is determined by the observation that enhanced biofilm formation was only shown in the vaping conditions, not upon the addition of e-cigarette liquid to the media (**figure 3B**). Each condition contained 8 replicates, with outliers identified and removed via the ROUT method. Each test has a duplicate. Statistical significance was determined utilizing a non-parametric t-test.

Oral Commensals S. sanguinis and S. gordonii Experience Significantly Decreased Biofilm Formation Following Exposure to E-cigarette Vapor

To identify if e-cigarette vapor has the same effect on commensal biofilm formation as it does on *S. mutans*, an oral pathogen, commensals *S. sanguinis* and *S. gordonii* were grown overnight in ATCC specified conditions, then exposed individually to nicotine free, 3mg/ml nicotine, and menthol freeze e-cigarette vapors as specified in *Puff Delivery and Duration*. Bacteria were then allowed to grow overnight, and biofilms were stained with safranin and the OD was measured at 490nm (**figure 4**).



Figure 4: *S. sanguinis* and *S. gordonii* biofilm formation following exposure to e-cigarette vapor. **A:** *S. sanguinis* biofilm formation is significantly decreased following exposure to nicotine free, 3mg/ml nicotine, and flavored e-cigarette vapor. **B:** *S. gordonii* biofilm formation is significantly decreased following exposure to nicotine free and 3mg/ml nicotine e-cigarette vapor.

Both commensals *S. sanguinis* and *S. gordonii* showed a distinct difference in biofilm formation compared to the pathogen *S. mutans* in the presence of e-cig vapor. For both bacterial strains, we observed decreased biofilm formation, indicating that *S. mutans* could have an advantage in colonizing the oral cavity of an e-cigarette user. Factors that may contribute to this include the decrease in the innate ability to attach in *S. sanguinis* and *S. gordonii* compared to *S. mutans*, due to the preference for sucrose-independent attachment within each. Each condition contained 8

replicates, with outliers identified and removed via the ROUT method. *S. sanguinis* was done in triplicate, while *S. gordonii* was done in duplicate. Statistical significance was determined utilizing a non-parametric t-test.

A Multiplicity of Infection of 1 is Optimal for Co-Cultures Between S. mutans and OKF6 Oral Epithelial Cells

The purpose of infecting oral epithelial cells (OKF6) at different multiplicity of infection was to determine a viable ratio of bacterial to epithelial cells for pro-longed co-culturing. OKF6 oral epithelial cells were exposed to an MOI of 1 and MOI of 5 of *S. mutans* over the course of 7 hours. At the 0, 3, 5 and 7 hour timepoints, cells were harvested and exposed to trypan blue to determine cell death (**figure 5**). 5 hours was determined as the point at which an MOI of 1 and an MOI of 5 resulted in differences in terms of OKF6 viability. While non-infected control OKF6 cells continued upon exponential growth to enter the stationary/stagnant phase, MOI 1 and 5 reduced epithelial cell viability over time, especially after the 5 hour time point. This experiment was performed in duplicate.



Figure 5: Oral epithelial cell trypan blue assay. At 5 hours, there is greater cell death when epithelial cells are cultured with an MOI of 5 of *S. mutans* than an MOI of 1, allowing this time point and multiplicity of infection to be chosen. The starting percentages differ because of the inherent drawbacks of cell culture, which is placing the same number of cells in exactly the same conditions.

Oral Epithelial Cells Experience a Stress Response 30 Minutes Following Exposure to Ecigarette Vapor

The ERK (extracellular-signal-regulated kinase) signaling pathway controls several cellular processes such as cell growth, proliferation, differentiation and apoptosis. The starting point of the ERK cascade is binding of a ligand (a growth factor or cytokine), known as a mitogen, to a tyrosine kinase receptor mediating downstream phosphorylation events that lead to activation of the pathway. Multiple kinases including mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase (MAPKK) and others will phosphorylate subsequent kinases in the cascade ending with the final enzyme, a mitogen-activated protein kinase called ERK in this event. Activation of ERK is measured by its phosphorylation upon which it is translocated to the nucleus where it activates transcription. A simplified version of this pathway is depicted in **figure 6**. Also depicted is the production of downstream product COX-2, which promotes inflammation, proliferation, and prevents apoptosis.





The observation of p-ERK 1/2 indicates a stress response within epithelial cells following a stimulus, in this case e-cigarette vapor. At 30 minutes following exposure to nicotine free, 3mg/ml nicotine, and flavored e-cigarette vapor, OKF6 oral cells protein was harvested. Western Blotting was used to compare expression and activation of p-ERK $\frac{1}{2}$ and t-ERK 1/2, using α -tubulin as a loading control to ensure equal loading of wells. (Figure 7)



Figure 7: Oral epithelial cell stress response 30 minutes after exposure to e-cigarette vapor. OKF6 oral epithelial cells experience an average 31.46 fold increase in p-ERK 1/2 30 minutes after exposure to nicotine free, 3mg/ml nicotine, and flavored e-cigarette vapor.

OKF6 oral epithelial cells experience an average 31.46 fold increase in p-ERK 1/2 30 minutes after exposure to nicotine free, 3mg/ml nicotine, and flavored e-cigarette vapor. This indicates that e-cigarette vapor, regardless of nicotine or flavoring, promotes an immediate stress response within oral epithelial cells. Samples were harvested and stored at -80° C prior to protein concentrations being determined and SDS PAGE. ImageJ was used to standardize band intensity to the loading control for comparison. Western Blots were performed in triplicate.

Oral Epithelial Cells Experience a Stress Response at 5 Hours Following Exposure to Ecigarette, However Co-Culturing Does Not Alter Stress Response

At 5 hours, ERK $\frac{1}{2}$ phosphorylation in OKF6 cells was measured following exposure to nicotine free, 3mg/ml nicotine, and flavored e-cigarette vapor to determine whether a prolonged stress response was present. Conditions include a control, cells exposed to a 10 second puff of air with no vapor, an MOI of 1 of *S. mutans*, cells exposed to the various e-cigarette vapors, and cells exposed to the various e-cigarette vapors along with an MOI of 1 of *S. mutans*. Western Blotting was used to compare expression and activation of p-ERK $\frac{1}{2}$ and t-ERK 1/2, using α -tubulin as a loading control to ensure equal loading of wells.

(Figure 8)



Figure 8: Oral epithelial cell stress response 5 hours after exposure to e-cigarette vapor and co-culturing. OKF6 oral epithelial cells experience an increase in p-ERK 1 and 2 5 hours after exposure to nicotine free, 3mg/ml nicotine, and flavored e-cigarette vapor. Coculturing with *S. mutans* has no compounding effect on whether a stress response occurs in response to e-cigarette vapor.

Cells experienced a stress response in the presence of e-cigarette vapor regardless of the presence of *S. mutans*. The addition of *S. mutans* provided no compounded effect to the stress response in epithelial cells exposed to e-cigarette vapor, and the presence of *S. mutans* alone did not promote

a stress response. Heat killed *S. mutans* did not trigger a stress response as well. Samples were harvested and stored at -80° C prior to protein concentrations being determined and SDS PAGE. ImageJ was used to standardize band intensity to the loading control for comparison. Western Blots were performed in triplicate.

Oral Epithelial Cells Experience an Inflammatory Response 24 Hours Following Exposure to Ecigarette Vapor

MAPK signaling has been shown to regulate the expression of a prominent mediator of inflammation, COX-2. It has been shown that aerosols in vaping products alter the host response, prompting gum inflammation and making epithelial cells in the mouth susceptible to infection.⁴⁷ This provided a rational to assess if COX-2 is activated as a potential downstream target of ERK in the context of e-cig vapor-mediated inflammation.

At 24 hours following exposure to nicotine free, 3mg/ml nicotine, and flavored e-cigarette vapor, OKF6 oral cells protein was harvested. Western Blotting was used to compare expression of COX-2, using α -tubulin as a loading control to ensure equal loading of wells. (Figure 9)



Figure 9: Oral epithelial cell inflammatory response 24 hours after exposure to e-cigarette vapor. OKF6 oral epithelial cells experience increased expression of the inflammatory protein COX-2 24 hours after exposure to nicotine free, 3mg/ml nicotine, and flavored e-cigarette vapor.

The expression of the inflammatory protein COX-2 was increased in OKF6 oral epithelial cells upon exposure to nicotine free, 3mg/ml nicotine, and flavored e-cigarette vapor indicating that even in the absence of nicotine, an inflammatory signaling is induced. The increased signal of COX-2 in flavored vape suggest the strongest host-response to the insult of the additional chemicals present due to the flavoring. Samples were harvested and stored at -80° C prior to protein concentrations being determined and SDS PAGE. ImageJ was used to standardize band intensity to the loading control for comparison. Western Blots were performed in triplicate.

DISCUSSION

Biofilms in the oral cavity are made of excreted polymeric compounds (EPS), microbes, DNA, RNA, and proteins, with only 5% of the biofilm being composed of microorganisms.³⁰ Oral pathogen S. mutans has the ability for sucrose-dependent attachment, using glucan-binding proteins and glucosyltransferases, as well as sucrose-independent attachment, using antigen I/II.³¹ Conversely, sucrose-dependent adherence is difficult for *S. sanguinis* and *S. gordonii*. Opting to use sucrose-independent adherence, *S. sanguinis* does so through *SrpA*, and *S. gordonii* does so through GspB and Hsa, all of which are siaglycan-binding adhesins.³²

E-cigarette liquids have been found to contain high amounts of sucrose.³³ Because of this, it is possible *S. mutans*, who may easily undergo both sucrose-dependent and independent attachment to smooth surfaces, such as the bottom of a 96 well plate, may have more biofilm forming prowess than *S. sanguinis* and *S. gordonii*.³¹ In addition, previous studies have shown that *S. mutans* has more effective adherence strategies, in general, than *S. sanguinis*, even going so far as to bind more of its synthesized glucosyltransferases. The end result is that adherence of *S. mutans* is 3 times as effective as that of *S. sanguinis* to smooth surfaces.³⁴

Regarding why the biofilm forming abilities of *S. mutans* are enhanced upon exposure to ecigarette vapor, while *S. sanguinis* and *S. gordonii* biofilm forming abilities are decreased, the answer may lie within components of the e-cigarette vapor and the nature of biofilms. Formaldehyde results from the combustion of propylene glycol and glycerol in e-cigarette vapors.³⁵ Formaldehyde is also a known antimicrobial agent, being used as a disinfectant clinically.³⁶ A previous study has shown that formaldehyde, in larger quantities, will inhibit biofilm formation and decrease biomass.³⁷ This may explain why *S. sanguinis* and *S. gordonii*

experience decreased biofilm following exposure to e-cigarette vapor, along with their less efficient surface adherence.

As for *S. mutans*, because of its increased ability to adhere to surfaces, it can begin establishing a biofilm sooner. The biofilm acts as protection, allowing optimal growth conditions for the organism, as well a quorum sensing and transformation rates 10-600 times higher than planktonic cells.³⁸ Therefore, within the biofilm, *S. mutans* may respond to environmental hazards quicker, and alter its biofilm to survive the environment. Additionally, if the conditions created by exposure to e-cigarette vapor are harsher than normal, biofilm formation may be encouraged further compared to regular conditions, leading to an increase in colonization.

Future studies could focus on interspecies interactions in response to e-cigarette vapor. Studies have shown *S. mutans* or *S. sanguinis* dominance *in vitro* is dependent on which organism is inoculated first.³⁹ It would be interesting to replicate this after the organisms have been exposed to e-cigarette vapors. Future experiments could also include examining the ratio of live and dead bacterial cells following exposure to e-cigarette vapor, both planktonically and within the biofilm. Finally, gene expression of sucrose-independent and dependent factors could be analyzed in each organism to better understand which is being utilized following exposure.

If *S. mutans* manages to outcompete pioneer colonizers *S. sanguinis* and *S. gordonii in vivo* following exposure to e-cigarette vapor, it could occupy a much larger niche. This would allow more acid production, destroying the enamel of the tooth, and eventually leading to an increased presence of dental caries.

Within the oral epithelium, infection by bacteria can lead to the phosphorylation of ERK. p-ERK ¹/₂ expression is often associated with a stress response that mediates inflammation through the

activation of transcription factors that produce pro-inflammatory proteins.⁴⁰ One of these inflammatory proteins is COX-2, which induces inflammation after being induced itself by cytokines and growth factors.⁴¹ The presence and activation of these proteins at the 30 minute, 5 hour, and 24 hour timepoints seen in the results indicates an acute and prolonged inflammatory response following exposure to e-cigarette vapors.

Oral inflammation, as seen in periodontitis, has far reaching consequences within the body. Aside from increasing the risk of the development of oral cancers if prolonged, oral inflammation may contribute to other diseases such as obesity, rheumatoid arthritis, Alzheimer's disease, and inflammatory bowel syndrome due to leakage of pro-inflammatory cytokines.^{42,43} One study identified that the average number of puffs during a vaping session would be more than 20 puffs per 10 minutes.⁴⁴ This type of exposure could allow acute responses to become chronic responses within the oral epithelium, further increasing the risk of oral cancer development.

Chronic inflammation, as seen in the case of infection, can induce the creation of mutagens by immune cells that induce DNA damage in epithelial.⁴⁸ This could mean devastating consequences *in vivo* if e-cigarette vapor weakens epithelial cells enough for bacterial invasion and a subsequent prolonged immune response. Inflammatory diseases, such as inflammatory bowel disease and gingivitis which may result from poor oral health and oral inflammation, lead to colorectal carcinoma and oral squamous cell carcinoma respectively.^{43,49} Additionally, bacterial colonization outside of its niche may lead to cancer, as seen in the case of *H. pylori* and gastric adenocarcinoma.⁴⁹ In the case of oral pathogen *S. mutans*, should it invade epithelial

tissues after e-cigarette allows it to dominate biofilms, it could have a similar effect on the ability for oral cancers to develop.

Those who partake in e-cigarettes may not only be damaging oral health by inducing dysbiosis within the oral microbiome, but also increasing the chance of cancers, such as oral squamous cell carcinoma, to develop. Furthermore, the inflammatory nature of e-cigarette usage may have far-reaching consequences within the body in the form of exacerbating systemic issues linked to inflammation and oral health.

REFERENCES

Marynak, K. L., Gammon, D. G., King, B. A., Loomis, B. R., Fulmer, E. B., Wang, T. W., & Rogers, T. (2017). National and State Trends in Sales of Cigarettes and E-Cigarettes, U.S., 2011-2015. Am J Prev Med, 53(1), 96-101.

doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2017.01.016

2. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. E-Cigarettes and Young People: A Public Health Concern- United States, 2017. CDC Features.

Zonuz, A. T., Rahmati, A., Mortazavi, H., Khashabi, E., & Farahani, R. M. (2008).
 Effect of cigarette smoke exposure on the growth of Streptococcus mutans and
 Streptococcus sanguis: an in vitro study. Nicotine Tob Res, 10(1), 63-67.
 doi:10.1080/14622200701705035

4. Kang, M. S., Oh, J. S., Jeong, K. Y., Kim, H. J., Lee, J. J., Lee, G. S., . . . Lim, H. S. (2013). Analysis of cariogenic bacteria in saliva of cancer patients. Chonnam Med J, 49(2), 75-80. doi:10.4068/cmj.2013.49.2.75

5. Schubert, M. M., & Izutsu, K. T. (1987). Iatrogenic causes of salivary gland dysfunction. J Dent Res, 66 Spec No, 680-688. doi:10.1177/00220345870660S213

6. Petrusic, N., Posavac, M., Sabol, I., & Mravak-Stipetic, M. (2015). The Effect of Tobacco Smoking on Salivation. Acta Stomatol Croat, 49(4), 309-315. doi:10.15644/asc49/4/6

7. Tong, H. C., Gao, X. J., & Dong, X. Z. (2003). Non-mutans streptococci in patients receiving radiotherapy in the head and neck area. Caries Res, 37(4), 261-266. doi:10.1159/000070868

 Papas, A. S., Joshi, A., MacDonald, S. L., Maravelis-Splagounias, L., Pretara-Spanedda, P., & Curro, F. A. (1993). Caries prevalence in xerostomic individuals. J Can Dent Assoc, 59(2), 171-174, 177-179.

9. van Houte, J. (1994). Role of micro-organisms in caries etiology. J Dent Res, 73(3),
 672-681. doi:10.1177/00220345940730031301

10. Martinez-Perez, M., Perez-Jorge, C., Lozano, D., Portal-Nunez, S., Perez-Tanoira, R., Conde, A., . . . Esteban, J. (2017). Evaluation of bacterial adherence of clinical isolates of Staphylococcus sp. using a competitive model: An in vitro approach to the "race for the surface" theory. Bone Joint Res, 6(5), 315-322. doi:10.1302/2046-3758.65.BJR-2016-0226.R2

 Sadri, G., & Mahjub, H. (2007). Tobacco smoking and oral cancer: a meta-analysis. J Res Health Sci, 7(1), 18-23.

American Cancer Society. Key Statistics for Oral Cavity and Oropharyngeal Cancers.
 United States, 2019.

13. Franco, T., Trapasso, S., Puzzo, L., & Allegra, E. (2016). Electronic Cigarette: Role in the Primary Prevention of Oral Cavity Cancer. Clin Med Insights Ear Nose Throat, 9, 7-12. doi:10.4137/CMENT.S40364

14. Canistro, D., Vivarelli, F., Cirillo, S., Babot Marquillas, C., Buschini, A., Lazzaretti,
M., . . . Paolini, M. (2017). E-cigarettes induce toxicological effects that can raise the
cancer risk. Sci Rep, 7(1), 2028. doi:10.1038/s41598-017-02317-8

15. Leigh, N. J., Lawton, R. I., Hershberger, P. A., & Goniewicz, M. L. (2016).
Flavourings significantly affect inhalation toxicity of aerosol generated from electronic nicotine delivery systems (ENDS). Tob Control, 25(Suppl 2), ii81-ii87.
doi:10.1136/tobaccocontrol-2016-053205

16. Mishra, A., Chaturvedi, P., Datta, S., Sinukumar, S., Joshi, P., & Garg, A. (2015).Harmful effects of nicotine. Indian J Med Paediatr Oncol, 36(1), 24-31.doi:10.4103/0971-5851.151771

17. Fiume, M. M., Bergfeld, W. F., Belsito, D. V., Hill, R. A., Klaassen, C. D., Liebler,
D., . . . Andersen, F. A. (2012). Safety assessment of propylene glycol, tripropylene
glycol, and PPGs as used in cosmetics. Int J Toxicol, 31(5 Suppl), 245S-260S.
doi:10.1177/1091581812461381

Kuramitsu, H. K., & Wang, B. Y. (2006). Virulence properties of cariogenic bacteria.
 BMC Oral Health, 6 Suppl 1, S11. doi:10.1186/1472-6831-6-S1-S11

19. Nishikawara, F., Nomura, Y., Imai, S., Senda, A., & Hanada, N. (2007). Evaluation of cariogenic bacteria. Eur J Dent, 1(1), 31-39.

20. Caufield, P. W., Schon, C. N., Saraithong, P., Li, Y., & Argimon, S. (2015). Oral Lactobacilli and Dental Caries: A Model for Niche Adaptation in Humans. J Dent Res, 94(9 Suppl), 110S-118S. doi:10.1177/0022034515576052 21. Kreth, J., Merritt, J., & Qi, F. (2009). Bacterial and host interactions of oral streptococci. DNA Cell Biol, 28(8), 397-403. doi:10.1089/dna.2009.0868

22. Narayan, T. V., Revanna, G. M., Hallikeri, U., & Kuriakose, M. A. (2014). Dental Caries and Periodontal Disease Status in Patients with Oral Squamous Cell Carcinoma: A Screening Study in Urban and Semiurban Population of Karnataka. J Maxillofac Oral Surg, 13(4), 435-443. doi:10.1007/s12663-013-0540-5

23. Tezal, M., Scannapieco, F. A., Wactawski-Wende, J., Meurman, J. H., Marshall, J.
R., Rojas, I. G., . . . Genco, R. J. (2013). Dental caries and head and neck cancers. JAMA
Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg, 139(10), 1054-1060. doi:10.1001/jamaoto.2013.4569

24. Javed, F., & Warnakulasuriya, S. (2016). Is there a relationship between periodontal disease and oral cancer? A systematic review of currently available evidence. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol, 97, 197-205. doi:10.1016/j.critrevonc.2015.08.018

25. Molecular analysis of bacterial species associated with childhood caries. Becker MR. Bik EM, Long CD, Armitage GC, et al. Bacterial diversity in the oral cavity of 10 healthy individuals. ISME J. 2010;4(8):962–974. Belda-Ferre P, Alcaraz LD, Cabrera-Rubio R, et al. The oral metagenome in health and disease. ISME J. 2012;6(1):46–56.

26. Competition and coexistence between Streptococcus mutans and Streptococcus sanguinis in the dental biofilm. Kreth J, Merritt J, Shi W, Qi F J Bacteriol. 2005 Nov; 187(21):7193-203

27. https://jb.asm.org/content/190/13/4632. Nobbs, A. H., Y. Zhang, A. Khammanivong, and M. C. Herzberg. 2007. Streptococcus gordonii Hsa environmentally constrains

competitive binding by Streptococcus sanguinis to saliva-coated hydroxyapatite. J. Bacteriol. 189:3106-3114.

28. (Comparison of genes required for H2O2 resistance in Streptococcus gordonii and Streptococcus sanguinis. Xu Y, Itzek A, Kreth J

29. Proteome analysis identifies the Dpr protein of Streptococcus mutans as an important factor in the presence of early streptococcal colonizers of tooth surfaces. Yoshida A, Niki M, Yamamoto Y, Yasunaga A, Ansai T.

30. Berger, D., Rakhamimova, A., Pollack, A., & Loewy, Z. (2018). Oral Biofilms:Development, Control, and Analysis. High-throughput, 7(3), 24.

https://doi.org/10.3390/ht7030024

31. El-Ezmerli, N. F., & Gregory, R. L. (2019). Effect of nicotine on biofilm formation of Streptococcus mutans isolates from smoking and non-smoking subjects. Journal of oral microbiology, 11(1), 1662275. https://doi.org/10.1080/20002297.2019.1662275

32. Zhu, B., Macleod, L. C., Kitten, T., & Xu, P. (2018). Streptococcus sanguinis biofilm formation & interaction with oral pathogens. Future microbiology, 13(8), 915–932. <u>https://doi.org/10.2217/fmb-2018-0043</u>

33. Fagan, P., Pokhrel, P., Herzog, T. A., Moolchan, E. T., Cassel, K. D., Franke, A. A., Li, X., Pagano, I., Trinidad, D. R., Sakuma, K. K., Sterling, K., Jorgensen, D., Lynch, T., Kawamoto, C., Guy, M. C., Lagua, I., Hanes, S., Alexander, L. A., Clanton, M. S., Graham-Tutt, C., ... Addictive Carcinogens Workgroup (2018). Sugar and Aldehyde Content in Flavored Electronic Cigarette Liquids. Nicotine & tobacco research : official journal of the Society for Research on Nicotine and Tobacco, 20(8), 985–992. https://doi.org/10.1093/ntr/ntx234

34. Kuramitsu, H., & Ingersoll, L. (1977). Molecular basis for the different sucrosedependent adherence properties of Streptococcus mutans and Streptococcus sanguis. Infection and immunity, 17(2), 330–337.

35. Lestari, K. S., Humairo, M. V., & Agustina, U. (2018). Formaldehyde Vapor Concentration in Electronic Cigarettes and Health Complaints of Electronic Cigarettes Smokers in Indonesia. Journal of environmental and public health, 2018, 9013430. <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/9013430</u>

36. McDonnell, G., & Russell, A. D. (1999). Antiseptics and disinfectants: activity, action, and resistance. Clinical microbiology reviews, 12(1), 147–179.

37. Effect of formaldehyde on biofilm activity and morphology in an ultracompact biofilm reactor for carbonaceous wastewater treatment. Ong SL1, Sarkar SK, Lee LY, Hu JY, Ng HY, van Loosdrecht M.

Donlan R. M. (2002). Biofilms: microbial life on surfaces. Emerging infectious diseases, 8(9), 881–890. <u>https://doi.org/10.3201/eid0809.020063</u>

39. Competition and Coexistence between Streptococcus mutans and Streptococcus sanguinis in the Dental Biofilm. Jens Kreth, Justin Merritt, Wenyuan Shi, Fengxia Qi

40. Ayroldi, Emira & Cannarile, Lorenza & Migliorati, Graziella & Nocentini, Giuseppe & Delfino, Domenico & Riccardi, Carlo. (2012). Mechanisms of the anti-inflammatory effects of glucocorticoids: Genomic and nongenomic interference with MAPK signaling

pathways. FASEB journal : official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology. 26. 10.1096/fj.12-216382.

41. Lemke, T. L., Williams, D. A., Roche, V. F., & Zito, S. W. (2012). Foye's principles of medicinal chemistry: Seventh edition. Wolters Kluwer Health Adis (ESP).

42. Inflammation in the context of oral cancer. Feller L1, Altini M2, Lemmer J3.

43. Konkel, J. E., O'Boyle, C., & Krishnan, S. (2019). Distal Consequences of Oral Inflammation. Frontiers in immunology, 10, 1403.

https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2019.01403

44. Behar, R. Z., Hua, M., & Talbot, P. (2015). Puffing topography and nicotine intake of electronic cigarette users. PloS one, 10(2), e0117222.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0117222

45. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/tobacco/basic_information/e-cigarettes/Quick-Facts-on-the-</u> <u>Risks-of-E-cigarettes-for-Kids-Teens-and-Young-Adults.html</u>

46. Gao, L., Xu, T., Huang, G., Jiang, S., Gu, Y., & Chen, F. (2018). Oral microbiomes: more and more importance in oral cavity and whole body. Protein & cell, 9(5), 488–500. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13238-018-0548-1

47. Electronic Cigarette Aerosol Modulates the Oral Microbiome and Increases Risk of Infection. Pushalkar S1, Paul B1, Li Q1, Yang J1, Vasconcelos R1, Makwana S1, González JM1, Shah S1, Xie C1, Janal MN2, Queiroz E1, Bederoff M1, Leinwand J3, Solarewicz J1, Xu F1, Aboseria E1, Guo Y1, Aguallo D1, Gomez C1, Kamer A1, Shelley D4, Aphinyanaphongs Y5, Barber C1, Gordon T6, Corby P7, Li X8, Saxena D9. 48. Maeda H, Akaike T. Nitric oxide and oxygen radicals in infection, inflammation, and cancer. Biochemistry. 1998;63:854–865.

49. Coussens, L. M., & Werb, Z. (2002). Inflammation and cancer. Nature, 420(6917), 860–867. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature01322